IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

19

GREGORY SCOTT ENGLE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 68,548

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GREGORY SCOTT ENGLE.

Appellant, :

v. : CASE NO. 68,548

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, GREGORY SCOTT ENGLE, was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by his proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution, and will be referred to as the state. The record on appeal (from the original appeal, case no. 57,708) will be referred to by use of the symbol "R". The transcript of the trial, the penalty proceeding before the jury, and the original sentencing hearing will be referred to by use of the symbol "T". The record on appeal with reference to resentencing (case no. 68,548) will be referred to by use of the symbol "SR". The transcript of the resentencing proceedings will be referred to by use of the symbol "SR". All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gregory Scott Engle, along with Rufus Stevens, was charged by indictment returned April 5, 1979 with first degree murder of Eleanor Kathy Tolin (R 6-7). Appellant moved to sever his trial from that of Stevens (R 25). This motion was granted (R 36).

Appellant's case proceeded to trial before Circuit Judge John E. Santora, Jr. and a jury. The jury was selected and sworn on May 29, 1979. The evidentiary phase of the trial commenced on May 30, 1979 and continued through the following day. On June 1, 1979, the jury heard the closing arguments of counsel and the court's instructions on the law, and then retired to deliberate at 4:53 p.m. (T 968). At 7:00 p.m. the jury returned with three questions, phrased as follows:

No. 1 - Testimony of Nathan - We would like to see his testimony in which he said to the effect: "I know he (or they) killed her."

No. 2 - In order to prove first degree murder, must we be convinced that the defendant killed the victim?

No. 3 - We do not now need Nathan's testimony. We do need the judge's definition previously requested.

(T 972, see SR 73).

The trial court reinstructed the jury on the degrees of murder and on principals (T 972-76). He asked the foreman of the jury whether that answered their question; the foreman replied "Can we confer on it, Your Honor?" (T 976). Five minutes later, the jury buzzed again (T 976). The trial court said to counsel:

Apparently, we didn't -- I didn't answer their question because this question reads: Do we have to be convinced the defendant personally killed the victim to render a [verdict] of murder in the first degree? That is the same question they asked before.

(T 976, see SR 73).

The trial court again referred the jury to the written instructions which they had in the jury room (T 979).

At 8:51 p.m., the jury buzzed again and informed the trial court that they were not close to a verdict, and needed to get something to eat (T 981). With the assent of counsel, the trial court permitted the jury to recess for the night (T 983). At 8:30 the following morning, the jury reconvened (T 984). After an hour, the jury asked to be provided with an easel and chalk, and this was done (T 984, see SR 73). Finally, at 10:58 a.m., after nearly six hours of deliberations, the jury

returned a verdict finding appellant guilty as charged of first degree murder (R 91. T 984-86).

The penalty phase of the trial commenced within minutes after the guilty verdict was announced (T 986-87). No additional evidence was presented by either the state or the defense. Rather, the cause was submitted based upon the arguments of counsel and the instructions of the court. The jury was specifically instructed that it was to base its penalty verdict "upon the evidence which you have heard while trying the guilt or innocence of the defendant, and evidence which has been presented to you in the proceedings" (T 1023). After 25 minutes of deliberation, the jury returned a recommendation that appellant be sentenced to life imprisonment (R 91A, T 1028, 1031).

On August 17, 1979, the trial court rejected the jury's life recommendation, and sentenced appellant to death (R II3, T 1091). The trial court's findings in support of the death penalty were read in open court and filed (R II4-I9, 1083-92). Included in the sentencing order is a recitation of the trial court's view of the facts of the crime (R II4-I5, II6-I7). Many of the purported facts referred to by the trial court, however, were not based on any evidence presented in appellant's trial. Rather, their source was statements made by Rufus Stevens which were admitted into evidence at Stevens' trial, in which Judge Santora had also presided (see SR 82-83). [Defense counsel had objected unsuccessfully to the trial court's consideration of Stevens' statements, on the ground that it would deprive appellant of his constitutional right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against him]. In the sentencing order, the trial court found four aggravating circumstances, found no mitigating circumstances, and made no reference to the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment (R II4-II9, T 1083-92).

On appeal, appellant raised five issues with respect to the guilt or innocence phase of the trial. With regard to penalty, appellant contended that the trial court's

decision to reject the jury's life recommendation and to impose a death sentence in its stead was improper [see Initial Brief of Appellant, case no. 57,708, p. 49-61], and that the trial court, in so sentencing appellant, improperly considered "evidence" derived from the un-cross-examined statements of Rufus Stevens [see Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 62-67]. The state, in its answer brief, conceded that the trial court considered Stevens' statements in deciding to override the jury's life recommendation [see Brief of Appellee, p.32], but took the position that there was nothing improper about doing so. With regard to appellant's argument that there was a reasonable basis for the jury's recommendation of life, the state asserted that it was "rather clear that the jury recommended life because they had no evidence that appellant participated in the acutal homicide" [Brief of Appellee, p.29]. The state then argued, specifically referring to Issue VII (concerning Rufus Stevens' statements) that "[t]he trial judge, however, did have such evidence ... and relied upon that evidence in imposing the sentence of death" [Brief of Appellee, p.29]. Therefore, the state submitted "if this Court finds the trial judge could properly consider the evidence which proved that appellant was a coparticipant in the homicide", then the life recommendation would be unreasonable and the death sentence should be affirmed. [Brief of Appellee p. 29].

The state further argued that Stevens' un-cross-examined statements were reliable, because they contained admissions against his penal interest [Brief of Appellee, p. 35], while appellant, citing <u>Bruton v. United States</u>, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), countered that the statements were inherently unreliable, because of the "recognized motivation [of an accomplice] to shift blame onto others", and that the unreliability of such evidence is compounded when it cannot be tested by cross-examination [Reply Brief of Appellant, p.17].

On September 15, 1983, this Court affirmed appellant's conviction, but agreed with his contention that, in imposing the death sentence, the trial court improperly considered Rufus Stevens' statements, in violation of appellant's sixth amendment

right of confrontation. <u>Engle v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1983). Consequently, this Court vacated appellant's death sentence, and remanded with instructions to the trial court to conduct another sentencing hearing. Engle v. State, supra, at 814.

The resentencing hearing was held on October 4, 1984. At the outset, Judge Santora denied appellant's request that he recuse himself (SR 60-61, ST 10-15). Appellant presented additional evidence in mitigation, consisting of the testimony of his mother, Florence Engle; his sister, Peggy Jo Pugh; and (upon the state's stipulation to its admissibility) a written psychological evaluation by Dr. James Vallely (ST 16-32, SR 75-78). Also before the court, from the original sentencing proceeding in 1979, were the pre-sentence investigation report, and psychological evaluations by Drs. Ernest Miller and Lauren Yates (SR 42-59). After hearing the arguments of counsel (ST 33-69), the trial court deferred imposition of sentence (ST 69-71).

Appellant submitted a memorandum of law (followed by four supplemental memoranda) in support of his position that there was a reasonable basis for the jury's life recommendation, and that (especially now, in the absence of the contrary "evidence" derived from Rufus Stevens' statements) it should be followed (SR 66-74, 180-191). Included in the memorandum was a brief biographical sketch of each juror, and a summary of his or her responses when asked under oath whether he or she could recommend the death penalty if the circumstances warranted it (SR 69-72). Defense counsel emphasized the questions submitted by the jury during their lengthy guilt-phase deliberations concerning whether, in order to return a verdict of first-degree murder, they had to be convinced that appellant personally killed the victim (SR 73). Defense counsel also focused on the testimony of the key state witness at trial, Nathan Hamilton (SR 73-74), and on the defense's closing argument in the penalty phase (SR 73).

The state also filed a memorandum of law, in which it argued for re-imposition of the death penalty (SR 81-103). It was the state's position that there were four aggravating and no mitigating circumstances, that the jury's recommendation was

unreasonable, and that death was the only appropriate sentence (SR 83-103). At the beginning of its memorandum, the state set forth those portions of the factual recitation in the trial court's original sentencing order which "must have emanated from Stevens' confession" and which therefore could no longer be considered (SR 82-83). The state conceded in its memorandum that appellant was entitled to present, and the court was obliged to consider, additional evidence in mitigation at the resentencing hearing (SR 83). Appended to the state's memorandum was a transcript of the testimony of Nathan Hamilton (SR 86, 105-178).

On March 28, 1986, the trial court again sentenced appellant to death (SR 204, 206-208, ST 74-78). The court prefaced his sentencing order with the following comment:

Pursuant to the order by the Florida Supreme Court this court held an evidentiary hearing and both the State and the defendant were allowed to present evidence. In resentencing this defendant the court has reassessed all aggravating and mitigating circumstances without taking into consideration inadmissible statements made by Rufus Stevens. Additionally, the court has thoroughly studied the record in this case and considered all arguments by counsel for both the State and the defense.

Evidence produced at trial established that the victim, Kathy Tolin, a young mother of two children, was working as a clerk in a convenience store. Tolin was robbed, abducted, raped, mutilated, and then murdered. This court finds that the evidence presented at trial conclusively establishes that Gregory Engle was an active participant in all phases of this crime and at least contemplated that lethal force be used and finds that the only appropriate sentence is death...

(SR 206).

The trial court found four aggravating circumstances: (1) that the murder occurred in the course of a robbery, kidnapping, and sexual battery; (2) that it was committed to avoid lawful arrest; (3) that it was committed for pecuniary gain; and (4) that it was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (SR 206-08). The sentencing order does not discuss any specific statutory or non-statutory mitigating circumstances, but only the conclusory statement "The Court finds that there are no mitigating circumstances" (SR 208). There is no reference in the sentencing order

to the jury's life recommendation, except perhaps for the judge's statement that he had "... considered all arguments by counsel for both the State and the defense" (SR 206).

Notice of appeal was filed on April 2, 1986 (SR 216).

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Trial

The following is a summary of the evidence presented at trial on May 30-31, 1979:

On March 12, 1979, at 9:30 p.m., Eleanor Kathy Tolin arrived for work as a cashier at the Majik Market on Timuquana and Catoma Roads in Jacksonville (T 296-297). When Mrs. Tolin relieved the afternoon cashier, \$50 was left in the cash register (T 296-299). At approximately 3:50 a.m. on March 13, 1979, Walter Glenn Thomas purchased a pack of gum from Mrs. Tolin at the Majik Market (T 300-302). David Glover, a newspaper deliveryman for the Florida Times Union, arrived at the Majik Market around 4:20 a.m. on March 13, 1979 (T 302-303). Glover found the store unlocked and unattended. He called the police and stayed until they arrived (T 304). A subsequent comparison between the cash on hand and the cash register record showed \$67 was missing from the store (T 308).

On March 14, 1979, at approximately 10:00 a.m., Mrs. Tolin's body was found in a wooded area of Fouraker Road (T 316, 319-21, 327, 348-50, 352-53). An autopsy was performed at the Medical Examiner's Office by Dr. Bonifacio Floro (R 371-72). Dr. Floro determined that the cause of death was ligature strangulation and multiple stab wounds of the back, "... whether singular or in combination" (T 372). He believed that the strangulation injuries occurred first, and would have been fatal irrespective of any of the stab wounds (T 372-73, 384). Dr. Floro found a four inch laceration of the vaginal area, which he believed could have been caused by a large object, or by forcible intercourse (T 359-60, 369-70). No semen was discovered in the vaginal area (T 381). Dr. Floro testified that he could not tell whether Mrs. Tolin's injuries

were inflicted by one person or by more than one person (T 381).

Officer Raymond A. Godbee of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office was patrolling Zone I during the 3:00 p.m. to II:00 p.m. shift on March 19, 1979 (T 388-389). He had occasion to stop an automobile which had three occupants (T 389). The driver was Lanny Israel, the passenger in the right front seat was Ralph Coble and the passenger in the back seat was Nathan Hamilton (T 390). Israel told Godbee that Hamilton knew who was involved in the Timuquana Road Majik Market robbery murder case (T 393). As a result of this conversation, both Israel and Hamilton were taken down to the Sheriff's homicide office for questioning (T 393; 391).

At approximately 11:25 p.m. on March 19, 1979, Investigator J.L. Parmenter, a homicide detective, had a 45 minute talk with Nathan Hamilton in a conference room in the Police Memorial Building (T 590-91). Parmenter, Detective Zipperer, and Hamilton then went to Hamilton's trailer to get Hamilton's wife and baby and bring them to the homicide office (T 592). While at the trailer, Parmenter encountered Gordon Day, Guy Custer, and Rufus Stevens. Parmenter gave them a "cover story" (that he had arrested Nathan Hamilton for drugs) in order to conceal his actual investigation of the Majik Market homicide (T 592-93). After gaining information from Hamilton and securing his family, Parmenter and other officers arrested Rufus Stevens and appellant for murder (T 550-51, 570, 594-96, 632-33).

Subsequent to his arrest, appellant was interviewed by Detectives Zipperer and Parmenter and Lieutenant Suber (T 562-66, 597-601, 608-13, 665-67). He denied taking part in the robbery of the Majik Market (T 567-68). In response to questioning about his whereabouts on March 13 from 2:00 a.m. until daybreak, appellant stated that when he got off work at the steak house he went to his residence (he was staying with the Wemmer family) and knocked on the door. No one came to the door so he sat on the porch. Shortly thereafter Rufus Stevens and Nathan Hamilton came by and asked him if he wanted to go for a ride. He rode around Jacksonville in Stevens' car with Stevens and Hamilton until a little after 2:00 a.m. when they

took Hamilton home, and then he continued to ride around drinking beer with Stevens until just after daylight (T 565-568). He never told the officers of any particular place he went with Stevens nor did he tell them of any particular person they saw during their ride (T 567).

During the interview, Detective Parmenter showed appellant a Buck pocket knife engraved with the initials S.E. (T 611-13). Appellant told Parmenter that it looked like his knife, and that he had had his initials put on his knife at the Trophy Shop on Cassat Avenue about two months earlier (T 612-13).

Nathan Hamilton was the state's key witness at trial (T 397-471). Hamilton had known Rufus Stevens for six years; Stevens is his wife's first cousin (T 398, 425). They lived in the same trailer park (T 399). Hamilton and Stevens were good friends; they "went fishing together, drank together, whatever friends do together" (T 425). Sometimes, Hamilton acknowledged, he and Stevens did things that were against the law together (T 425). Hamilton had known appellant for about seven or eight years (T 405). Appellant had been living with Hamilton and his wife in their trailer, but about three or four weeks prior to March 12-13, 1979, they had asked him to leave (T 444).

On Monday night, March 12, 1979, beginning at about 8:00 p.m., Nathan Hamilton and Rufus Stevens were drinking together (T 398-99). They hit about five different bars (T 399-400). Stevens was driving (T 401, 404). At about 10:00 p.m., Stevens started discussing a robbery (T 427). He asked Hamilton if he wanted to come with him and rob the Best Western Motel in Orange Park (T 428, 430). Hamilton told Stevens to let him think about it for a while, it was "a little out of [his] league" (T 428, 430). After first broaching the subject, Stevens continued to talk about robbing the Best Western (T 430). Hamilton figured the drunker Stevens got, he'd forget about it (T 430).

Shortly before 12:30 a.m., Stevens and Hamilton stopped at the Majik Market

on the corner of Catoma and Timuquana for a cup of coffee (T 400, 431-32). Kay Tolin was working there at the time (T 432). As they got back in the car and were leaving, Stevens said to Hamilton that they had just left the best place to rob (T 431). Stevens asked him if he wanted to rob the Majik Market (T 430). Hamilton replied that he thought Stevens was crazy because the lady could identify both of them; they both lived in that neighborhood and everybody around there could identify them (T 432). Rufus Stevens said they would take her out of the store, to get her away from the phone (T 433, 463-64).

Nathan Hamilton testified that it was his understanding that, if he had agreed to do it, the robbery of the Majik Market was to occur immediately (T 433-34). According to Hamilton, Rufus Stevens was ready, willing, and able to commit the robbery right then, if he [Hamilton] had acquiesced to the plan (T 434, 459-60). This was true even though, as far as Hamilton knew, Stevens did not have a weapon (T 459-60).

About an hour to an hour and a half later, Stevens and Hamilton picked up appellant, who was sitting on the Wemmers' front porch (T 401, 403, 434). Appellant got in the back seat of the car; Stevens was still driving and Hamilton was on the passenger side of the front seat (T 403-04). At this point, Hamilton had had about fifteen draft beers (T 404, 428-30). Rufus Stevens asked appellant if he wanted to make some money (T 403, 427, 435). Appellant said sure, what do I have to do (T 403, 435). Stevens said rob a Majik Market, and appellant again said sure (T 403, 427, 435). There was no more conversation after that (T 403). Hamilton remained in the car for about two more minutes, before they dropped him off at his trailer (T 403, 438).

[The prosecutor showed Nathan Hamilton a knife; Hamilton recognized it, from the initials, as appellant's knife (T 405, 422). Hamilton was with appellant when he had it inscribed (T 405). Hamilton stated that he'd never seen appellant without the knife, though he also stated that he [Hamilton] had had appellant's knife in

his possession a few times, all prior to the night of the Majik Market robbery (T 405, 465). About a week after appellant and Stevens were arrested, Hamilton obtained a knife which was similar to appellant's, only bigger (T 465-66)].

During the daytime on March 13, 1979, as Hamilton was watching television with Rufus Stevens, they saw a newscast concerning the robbery at the Majik Market (T 439). Stevens said "[T]hat's the robbery that my wife thinks that I did" (T 439). Hamilton knew he had done it (T 439).

On March 17, 1979, Rufus Stevens told Hamilton that "we got to get rid of Scott's [appellant's] knife because that's what it was done with" (T 440). The next evening, according to Stevens' directions, Hamilton tried to get the knife from appellant (T 440). Hamilton and appellant were watching "Zorro" on the late movie, and smoking a couple of joints, at Hamilton's trailer (T 408-10, 420, 438, 442-43). Hamilton told appellant that Rufus Stevens had told him that appellant's knife is what it was done with (T 411, 416, 421). Appellant tossed the knife to Hamilton and asked him if he saw any blood on it (T 411, 416, 421, 441). Hamilton looked at it closely, did not see anything on it, and handed it back to appellant (T 411, 416, 421, 441). Hamilton then tried to trade knives with appellant, but appellant wouldn't trade (T 411, 416, 421, 441). Hamilton testified that if he had gotten appellant's knife, he would have given it to Rufus Stevens (T 411, 441).

During this conversation, Hamilton asked appellant if he thought it was worth a lousy fifty or sixty dollar robbery to take a girl out of a store and kill her, and appellant answered no, he didn't (T 416-17, 421, 442). Hamilton asked him why they did it (T 421). Appellant said they got her out of the store away from a telephone, and Rufus Stevens went crazy and started saying she's going to identify us, she's going to identify us (T 417, 421). According to Hamilton, he and appellant

It is not entirely clear what knife Hamilton proposed to trade, since he testified that he did not acquire his own knife until after appellant and Stevens were arrested (T 465-66). According to Marsha Wemmer, she had seen Nathan Hamilton with a knife that looked like appellant's, but she was not sure when (T 491).

had the exact same conversation again the next day, while they were walking down to the Lil' Champ store (T 418, 423-24, 442-43).

Nathan Hamilton testified that he did not at any time go to the police voluntarily with what he knew (T 424). He explained this by saying "Sir, in the county where I was raised, I was taught all my life that you don't turn in a relative for no reason" (T 470). Hamilton stated that his relative is Rufus Stevens (T 470).

Hamilton first came in contact with the police on the Monday a week after the robbery (March 19, 1979), when he was riding around in a car, and drinking, with a friend, Lanny Israel (T 424). Hamilton had told Israel that he knew who had done the robbery and murder, but had not told him who it was (T 424, 444-45). When they were stopped for DWI, Israel (who was driving) told the police that Hamilton knew something about the case, and "the next thing I knew, I was at homicide" (T 424, 445). At the police station, Hamilton was advised of his constitutional rights by Detective Parmenter (T 446-48). Although he had been told he was not a suspect, Hamilton was concerned about going to jail, because "... when I go to a police station, I usually go to jail, yes" (T 446,449-50).

Hamilton initially told the police what he knew about the crime by referring to the perpetrators as "A" and "B" (T 453, 455). [Hamilton claimed not to be afraid of anyone, but he was concerned for his wife and baby, and did not want to name names until the police secured them (T 451-52)]. "A" referred to appellant, and "B" referred to Stevens (T 455, 457). Hamilton drew a diagram, with the words "easy", easy", and "weapon" written next to "A" (appellant) and with the words "hard", "killing", and "car" written next to "B" (Stevens) (T 455-57, 459). Hamilton explained that he thought appellant would be easy to "break", or to get to talk, while Stevens would be more difficult (T 455-56, 459). The reference to "killing"

was because Hamilton thought Rufus Stevens might had done the killing² (T 457). From knowing them and having lived with them, Hamilton considered Stevens to be the tougher and more dominant one of the two (T 456).

After his wife and child were placed in a motel, Hamilton told the police the names of "A" and "B" (T 461). Appellant and Stevens were arrested that night or later that morning (T 462).

At the time the crime was committed, appellant was living with James and Marsha Wemmer at 6355 Catoma Street (T 472-74, 525-26). Marsha Wemmer testified that on Monday morning, March 12, 1979, appellant, to the best of her recollection, had no money (T 474, 477, 485). Appellant called her that night and said he wouldn't be in until 1:00 or 1:30; she told him she would leave the door unlocked, but she changed her mind and didn't (T 485). The next morning, as she was letting the dog out, she saw appellant as he came in the door (T 475). Appellant told her that he had been out from about 4:00 a.m. drinking beer with Rufus Stevens (T 475-476). About a half an hour after he got in, Mrs. Wemmer saw appellant counting out a few bills. He told her Rufus Stevens had given him \$20 and that he was not to say anything to Stevens' wife because she might get upset (T 476).

Mrs. Wemmer testified that appellant owned a knife which he carried with him most of the time, but as far as she knew he left the knife at home when he went to work (T 479). After she told appellant she had heard on the news that the girl from the Majik Market had been found stabbed, appellant told her he had misplaced his knife (T 477-78, 479-80). However, at some point prior to his arrest, appellant had the knife again, and at that time made no effort to conceal or hide

Detective Parmenter testified that Hamilton told him that "B" (Stevens) had killed the woman (T 635). He also testified that he already knew the first names, Scott and Rufus, from Lanny Israel (T 641-43).

it (T 486). Mrs. Wemmer testified that State's Exhibit N for identification looked like appellant's knife (T 480). She had seen Nathan Hamilton with a knife that looked like appellant's, but she was not sure when (T 491).

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