## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GREGORY SCOTT ENGLE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO.: 68,548

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA SMITH HILLYER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050

(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not err in rejecting the jury's life recommendation and concluding that there was no reasonable basis for such life recommendation. The trial court considered all the evidence before the jury, as well as the nonstatutory mitigating evidence not presented to the jury, and concluded that each of the aggravating factors outweighed the nonexistent mitigating factors. This Court cannot speculate as to whether there was any reasonable basis for the jury to recommend life when there was no evidence of any such reasonable basis, to-wit: four aggravating and no mitigating circumstances.

Further, there was sufficient evidence to support the trial court's imposition of death as Appellant was an active participant in the crime, having been present at all stages of the crime, Appellant at least contemplated the use of lethal force, as he was present and his knife was used.

## ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REJECTING THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT, THEREBY IMPOSING A SENTENCE OF DEATH.

The jury's advisory sentence, pursuant to § 921.141(2), Fla. Stat., was life imprisonment. The trial court, on resentencing pursuant to this Court's opinion, "reassessed all aggravating and mitigating circumstances without taking into consideration inadmissible statements made by Rufus Stevens." (R 206). The court also "thoroughly studied the record" and considered all arguments by counsel. (R 206). In resentencing Appellant to death, the court carefully considered all the statutory aggravating circumstances and non-statutory mitigating circumstances, and again found four aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances. (R 206-208).

Appellant now contends the trial court erred in overriding the jury's recommendation of life, because there was a reasonable basis for the jury's life recommendation. The general rule espoused in <a href="Tedder v. State">Tedder v. State</a>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975) is that in order to sustain a sentence of death following a jury recommendation of life, the facts suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ. This Court in <a href="Engle 1">Engle 1</a> recognized that

principle of law, and then found:

The trial judge found four aggravating circumstances, to-wit: that the murder was committed after appellant had engaged in a kidnapping and rape, that it was committed for pecuniary gain, and that it was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. He found no mitigating circumstances. Review of the record demonstrates the validity and propriety of the above findings. [Emphasis supplied.]

(438 So.2d at 812). Since this Court has already <u>reviewed the</u> <u>record</u> and found that <u>the record</u> demonstrates the validity of the court's findings as to the override (except for consideration of the inadmissible evidence), the court's findings in the resentencing order are due the same treatment. This Court did <u>not</u> find that the trial judge's findings with respect to aggravation and mitigation were erroneous.

In this resentencing appeal, there is no issue concerning the jury's recommendation of life. At the resentencing hearing the jury was not involved; there was no new evidence or testimony presented to the jury. Thus, there is no possible way for this court to now speculate as to what the jury might have recommended had the jury heard any of the evidence which was presented at the resentencing hearing and which could have been presented in mitigation before the jury the first time around but was not so presented.

Section 921.141(2) Florida Statutes makes clear that the jury's role at sentencing in a capital case is merely advisory

and is not binding on the trial court. Section 921.141(3) further provides that:

Notwithstanding the recommendation of the majority of the jury, the court after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or death, but if the court imposes a sentence of death, it shall set forth its findings upon which the sentence of death is based as to the facts . . . [Emphasis supplied.]

This Court has consistently and repeatedly noted that in Florida it is the judge and <u>not</u> the jury that imposes sentence; the jury only recommends. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1984); <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); <u>Lamadline v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1974). The ultimate decision as to whether the death sentence should be imposed rests with the trial judge. <u>Thomas</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Hoy v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1977), <u>cert. den.</u>, 439 U.S. 920 (1978).

Pursuant to the statute governing capital sentencing proceedings, and pursuant to prevailing case law, the trial judge may appropriately weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances regardless of what the jury's recommended sentence has been. Here, the trial court, in its role as the ultimate sentencer considered all the evidence that was before the jury, as well as the nonstatutory mitigating evidence not presented to the jury, and concluded that each of the aggravating factors outweighed the nonexistent mitigating factors. Appellant is asking this Court to require trial judges to speculate as to whether there

was any reasonable basis for a jury to recommend life when there are four aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances. This Court cannot speculate as to whether there was any reasonable basis for the jury's recommendation of life--indeed, for this Court to speculatively flyspeck the record in search of any possible circumstance which could possibly have supported the recommendation of life completely obfuscates the statutory function of the sentencing judge. Tedder cannot reasonably be construed as creating a carte blanche license by which the court may guess and speculate as to the basis for the jury's recommendation and, in the process, ignore the well-considered written findings of the sentencing judge. This Court is not a legislative body and should not engage in "judicial legislation" by judicially abolishing the statutory jury override found in § 941.141 Fla. Stat.; such action would clearly be contrary to legislative intent and would reduce the trial judge's sentencing function to that of merely explaining why he/she concurs with a jury recommendation. The Florida legislature has not seen fit to abolish the jury override; nor has the legislature required the jury to provide written findings in support of its sentence. Without written findings in support of the jury's sentence, such sentence is advisory and can never be given more deference than a judge's sentence supported by written findings. According such deference to a jury's advisory sentence unsupported by written findings constitutes the very arbitrariness and inconsistency condemned by the United States Supreme Court in Furman v. Georgia,

408 U.S. 238 (1972).

Appellant asks this Court to speculate as to why the jury recommended life, by looking at the evidence before the jury as opposed to the sentencer's order. However, this Court will never know whether the jury's recommendation was predicated on rational or arbitrary reasons since the jury did not enumerate its findings. To satisfy the constitutional standards espoused in Furman v. Georgia, and Profitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1972), the trial judge's sentencing order must be the order reviewed, not the unstated conclusions of the jury. Whereas here, the trial judge has determined the presence of four aggravating factors and no mitigating factors, and his findings are not erroneous, this Court must agree that death is the appropriate sentence. Cf. Wainwright v. Goode, 464 U.S. 78 (1983); Parker v. State, 450 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984); Groover v. State, 458 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1984); Johnson v. State, 393 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1980); Spaziano v. State, 433 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1983).

The facts justifying Appellant's death sentence are so clear and convincing that reasonable persons could not differ as to the appropriate sentence. The evidence presented at trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For instance, Appellant in his brief states that "The jury could reasonably have concluded from the evidence that Stevens was the leader and appellant the follower; that Stevens planned the robbery and abduction, and enlisted appellant's aid without even telling him about the latter part of the plan; that Stevens was the one who expressed concern about being identified, and who 'went crazy' once they got the victim out of the store." Appellant's initial brief, p.36. Appellant continues on in speculating about what the jury could have believed, throughout the brief.

conclusively established that Appellant and Rufus Stevens "robbed, abducted, raped, mutilated, and then murdered" Kathy Tolin.

Appellant was an active participant in all phases of this crime and Appellant contemplated that lethal force be used. The trial judge explicitly listed the facts supporting his findings as to each aggravating factor. Implicit within the detailed order of the trial court is the fact that, by necessity, the court had to consider whether, under the facts before him, the jury had some reasonable basis for making its life recommendation. Clearly, the trial judge concluded, based upon his own reasoned judgment, that there existed no such basis. Reasonable persons cannot differ as to the appropriate sentence for Appellant--death.

#### ISSUE II

IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY UPON APPELLANT IS NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY PROHIBITED UNDER THE PRINCIPLES OF ENMUND V. FLORIDA.

Appellant contends there was an absence of evidence to support the trial judge's findings that Appellant was an "active participant in all phases of the crime" and that he "at least contemplated that lethal force be used," citing to Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982). In Enmund the Supreme Court held that Florida's death penalty statute cannot be applied to one who did not kill, attempt to kill, intend to kill, or intend that lethal force be used. Here, as in Hall v. State, 420 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1982), Appellant provided the weapon used to kill the victim and was present at her death. Appellant was involved in the entire sequence of events, ending in the murder of the victim. There is no doubt that Appellant at least contemplated that lethal force be used. See Ruffin v. State, 420 So.2d 591 (Fla. 1982); and Brown v. State, 473 So.2d 1260 (Fla. 1985).

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the sentence of death should be upheld.